STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Colleton County

Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 16 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALBERT EDWARD SIDERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-000995

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying Sider's motion to relieve counsel and failing to advise Siders of his right to represent himself *pro se*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Albert E. Siders was indicted by the Colleton County Grand Jury for armed robbery, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 311.

On April 20, 2015, Siders filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Relieve Counsel. R. 300. A pre-trial hearing was held before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., but the motion to relieve counsel was denied. R. 10 – 22; R. 24 – 47.

On April 20-22, 2015, Siders proceeded to trial before the Judge Cooper and a jury. Siders was represented by David Mathews, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors Steve Knight and Reed Evans. R. 24. The jury found Siders guilty of the indicted offenses. R. 266 – 267. Judge Cooper sentenced Siders to concurrent terms of life imprisonment without parole for armed robbery and kidnapping. R. 278. Pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-23-490, Judge Cooper did not impose a sentence on the weapons offense. R. 310.

On May 13, 2016, Appellant filed his original initial brief of appellant. The state filed its original initial brief of respondent on July 25, 2016, to which Appellant replied on September 6, 2016. Subsequent to the filing of the initial briefs, but prior to the filing of the record on appeal, counsel for Appellant became aware of an additional transcript relevant to the issue raised in the original briefs. On September 12, 2016, Appellant requested an abeyance to obtain the transcript. On December 15, 2016, following receipt and review of the transcript, Appellant filed a motion to withdraw the original briefs and file an amended brief of appellant and designation of matter. By Order filed January 26, 2017, this Court granted the motion to withdraw the original briefs and ordered that the amended initial brief and designation be filed within thirty days of the Order.

This amended brief of appellant follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Sider's motion to relieve counsel and failing to advise Siders of his right to represent himself *pro se*.

Introduction

The trial judge erred in denying Sider's pre-trial motion to relieve trial counsel. Siders had filed a civil lawsuit against Mathews in the federal court creating a potential conflict of interest. Rather than exploring the nature of the suit, the trial judge erroneously ruled that the pendency of a grievance or civil suit against one's counsel could not create a conflict of interest. The trial judge also failed to advise Siders of his right to proceed *pro se*. Siders explained that Mathews had spent a very limited amount of time with him and that he had no confidence in Mathews. Siders never asked for appointment of another attorney and signed his motion "Albert E. Siders PRO SE, Defendant." See R. 300. The trial judge's failure to properly consider the conflict of interest and advise Siders regarding his right to proceed *pro se* was error. Siders is accordingly entitled to a new trial.

Relevant Facts

Siders admitted that he entered a BP gas station store, pulled out a BB gun, and demanded money from the clerk. However, he testified that he engaged in that conduct while under duress from two black males, who found out that Siders had worked as a confidential informant for the drug enforcement task force the prior year. Siders testified that the men were setting him up in retribution for the controlled buys he made as a confidential informant from Sharonda Mitchell and Celestra "Cornbread" Rivers. R. 163 – 186. Though Siders had a ski mask when he entered the BP, he did not pull it down to cover his face and looked directly at the surveillance camera. Siders also did not take the store clerk's cell phone before leaving the store, but rather told her that he

knew that she was going to “call the cops” and that was her job. R. 176, ll. 12-16; see also State’s Ex. 4 (Surveillance Video), on file with this Court.

Siders made a pre-trial motion to relieve his public defender, David Mathews, citing both a failure to communicate and a pending civil lawsuit Siders filed against Mathews in federal court. R. 10-22; R. 26 – 47; see also R. 300. Siders explained that during the fourteen months he had been incarcerated, Mathews had only seen him three times – July 20, 2014, the day before his original trial date; July 21, 2014, his original trial date; and April 7, 2015, approximately two weeks prior to his new trial date of April 20, 2015. Siders said that because of their lack of communication, he had lost confidence in Mathews. He also filed a civil suit against Mathews in the federal district court in Greenville, South Carolina. R. 13, l. 1 – 14, l. 12.

Mathews claimed that he had also seen Siders once the week prior to April 20, 2015 and that he was “ready to try the case.” R. 14, ll. 13-16. Mathews said that he had reviewed the twenty-page letter that Siders sent to federal judge David Norton, which Mathews said explained “really everything about the case that anyone could ever want to know and then some.” R. 14, ll. 16-21; see Court’s Ex. 1 (Siders’ letter). Mathews said that there was not anything else to talk to Siders about and that based upon the letter, he issued two subpoenas,¹ both of which were served. R. 14, l. 21 – 15, l. 2. Mathews went on to lament that none of his clients think that he spends enough time with them, but that three times was more than he sees a lot of his clients. R. 15, ll. 2-19.

Regarding discovery, Mathews said that Siders had “seen everything in the file” and been given copies. R. 15, ll. 20-25. Regarding the lawsuit, Mathews said that he had not been served

¹ Mathews later referenced subpoenas that he issued for Celestra “Cornbread” Rivers and Officer Mike Orella. R. 27, l. 16 – 28, l. 9. “Mike Orella” appears to have been a reference to “Edward Marcurella.” R. 144 – 159.

with anything but provided Judge Cooper with some papers handed to him by Siders. R. 16, l. 1 – 18, l. 2. After reviewing the documents, Judge Cooper asked Siders what actions he had requested that Mathews had not done on his behalf. Siders said that there were three warrants related to his case that Mathews had not obtained but requested that any further discussions be conducted *in camera*. R. 18, l. 3 – 21, l. 9. Judge Cooper agreed to set the case aside and recall it later in the afternoon. R. 21, l. 10 – 22, l. 14.

The case was re-called with only essential court personnel present in the courtroom. Mathews asked if he could provide a brief summary but said: “And then I know he wants to be heard, I have no doubt of that.” R. 26, ll. 2-18. Mathews said that the case involved an armed robbery of a convenience store. R. 26, ll. 20-23. He said that “the armed robber walks into the thing, shows a gun and looks face-on into the camera.” R. 26, ll. 23-25. Siders was quickly identified as a suspect by police and explained the reason for his actions in a letter to Judge Norton and statements to various other individuals. R. 27, ll. 1-6. Siders letter explained that he had spent the earlier portion of the day with two men, one of whom was called “Dread.” They asked Siders if he was an informant and one of them made a phone call to Celestra “Cornbread” Rivers, a drug dealer who was arrested after selling drugs to Siders when Siders was acting as a confidential informant. The charges against Rivers were ultimately dismissed. After getting off of the phone with Rivers, the men told Siders that he was going to go rob the store or they would kill him. R. 27, l. 6 – 28, l. 20.

Mathews explained that Siders feared that the men would have Siders killed if he testified, leaving him in a dilemma of either accepting the state’s twenty year plea offer or proceeding to trial, at which he would have to testify to prove coercion, to face a mandatory sentence of life without parole. R. 28, l. 21 – 29, l. 21. Mathews said: “It’s been difficult, because Mr. Siders

really really really really really wants to be heard and he wants to be heard in a great deal of detail. And I tried to explain the mechanics of, it's difficult to get through." R. 29, l. 23 – 30, l. 2.

Siders said that Mathews "basically . . . covered it" but explained more about his retention as a confidential informant, how Rivers and his co-defendant Sharonda Mitchell a/k/a Wanda Moochry knew that Siders made the undercover buy, and his lack of protection from law enforcement when rumors circulated in the community that Siders was working with the police. R. 30, l. 6 – 38, l. 12. Siders said that he was forced to rob the store and that the men only gave him a BB gun so that he would not be able to defend himself against them. They also had a small video camera, which he believed they used to record him committing the robbery. Siders explained that he purposefully did not pull down the mask and that he looked directly into the camera because he knew that he could explain that he was forced to commit the robbery. R. 38, l. 13 – 43, l. 15. Judge Cooper responded that if Siders decided to go forward with a jury trial, he could explain that to the jury and then it would be up to the jury whether they believed him or not. R. 43, l. 16 – 44, l. 2.

Judge Cooper then issued his ruling denying Sider's motion to relieve Mathews. Judge Cooper said: "[Mathews] is . . . familiar with your case, and he can . . . get the witnesses that you need and he's subpoenaed those witnesses. He can't tell what they're going to say. He has no control over that. They're going to say whatever they're going to say." R. 44, ll. 4-10. Judge Cooper explained to Siders that he would be able to testify if he chose to but would be subject to cross-examination by the state. The jury would then decide if the state met its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt after hearing everything. R. 44, l. 11 – 45, l. 5. Judge Cooper further ruled:

Mr. Mathews is prepared to try your case. He knows about your case. He's read the 20-page letter, whatever it happens to be, that says these things, I imagine, and he's familiar with the background. He's an experienced trial lawyer. He can -- he can present this case. So your motion to have him relieved is respectfully denied.

...

I do not find that you have shown that Mr. Mathews is ill-prepared or not prepared to present your case for you today. As a matter of fact, it appears that most of the presentation of the case is going to be your side, what you've names you have given him, to -- to, hopefully, support what you're saying. Whether they do or not is beyond his control and beyond yours as well. But the motion to have Mr. Mathews relieved as your lawyer is respectfully denied.

R: 45, l. 6 – 46, l. 6.

Siders inquired as to whether the civil lawsuit that he filed against Mathews created a conflict of interest. R. 46, ll. 12-17. Judge Cooper responded “no” and explained that “some folks take advantage of that and they file grievances against their lawyers on the eve of trial in the hopes that that -- that that would be a reason for their lawyer to step aside.” R. 46, ll. 18-23. He ruled that neither a grievance or a lawsuit constitutes a conflict of interest, “especially if it has been raised for the purpose of trying to create a conflict of interest.” R. 46, l. 23 – 47, l. 9.

Siders then proceeded to trial with Mathews as counsel. Based on Siders' statement during the pre-trial hearing, the solicitor made two motions for the defense to be precluded from making any reference to life without parole, even as it related to Siders' claim of duress and coercion, which were granted without opposition from trial counsel. R. 127, l. 8 – 128, l. 14; R. 138, l. 12 – 139, l. 21. In addition to Siders' testimony, the defense presented testimony from Edward Marcurella, the narcotics officer who Siders worked with in February 2013, and from Mary Blakely, Siders' sister who was aware of rumors that Siders was a “snitch.” R. 144 – 188. Siders was convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole under the recidivist statute. R. 266, l. 11 – 267, l. 10; R. 273, l. 8 – 278, l. 20.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in denying the motion to relieve counsel where he failed to properly evaluate the potential conflict of interest and failed to advise Siders regarding his right to proceed *pro se*. With respect to the civil suit that Siders had filed against Mathews and others, Judge Cooper ruled that the “filing a grievance or even filing a civil lawsuit which is based on grievance **will not constitute a conflict of interest.**” R. 47, ll. 3-9 (emphasis added). He told Siders that “some folks” try to “take advantage of that and they file grievances against their lawyers on the eve of trial in the hopes that [it] would be a reason for their lawyer to step aside.” R. 46, ll. 18-23. He continued: “That is not a reason and it . . . has [been] held not to constitute a conflict of interest, especially if it has been raised for the purpose of trying to create a conflict of interest.” R. 46, l. 23 – 47, l. 2.

In Richardson v. State, 377 S.C. 103, 107, 659 S.E.2d 493, 495 (2008), our Supreme Court warned of a tactic used in PCR matters whereby an applicant files a complaint against appointed counsel with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel and then files a motion to relieve counsel based on the complaint. The Richardson Court wrote: “We caution the bench that the filing of a disciplinary complaint should not result in *automatic* removal of appointed counsel.” 377 S.C. at 107, 659 S.E.2d at 495 (emphasis added). Rather, the Court instructed: “[T]he basis for the complaint should be **explored** and the PCR judge should exercise discretion in determining whether the basis for the complaint constitutes sufficient cause to relieve counsel.” Id. Notably, the right to counsel in a PCR case is statutory rather than constitutional, calling into question the applicability of Richardson. See Aice v. State, 305 S.C. 448, 452 n. 2, 409 S.E.2d 392, 395 n. 2 (1991). Even if applicable, Richardson does not stand for the proposition that the filing of a grievance or lawsuit based on a grievance “will not constitute a conflict of interest.” See R. 46, l. 18 – 47, l. 9. Rather, it requires that the basis of the complaint be explored by the

judge. Though Judge Cooper noted that some defendants use the filing of a grievance or suit to “take advantage” of the system or to “create a conflict of interest,” there was no evidence that Siders’ suit was tactical rather than based on a genuine breakdown in communication.

Judge Cooper further erred in failing to advise Siders regarding his right to proceed *pro se*. “The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of our Constitution guarantee that a person brought to trial in any state or federal court must be afforded the right to the assistance of counsel before he can be validly convicted and punished by imprisonment.” Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807 (1975); U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence”). “[T]he Sixth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel implicitly embodies a ‘correlative right to dispense with a lawyer’s help.’” Id. at 814 (quoting Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 279 (1942)).

“A South Carolina criminal defendant has the constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions.” State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014); S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 (“The right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury; to be fully informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, **and to be fully heard in his defense by himself or by his counsel or by both.**” (emphasis added)); see also S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-3-10; S.C. CODE ANN. § 40-5-80. The Faretta Court ruled that the “Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it

grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense.” 422 U.S. at 819. To that end, the Court explained:

The language and spirit of the Sixth Amendment contemplate that counsel, like the other defense tools guaranteed by the Amendment, shall be an aid to a willing defendant—not an organ of the State interposed between an unwilling defendant and his right to defend himself personally. To thrust counsel upon the accused, against his considered wish, thus violates the logic of the Amendment. In such a case, counsel is not an assistant, but a master; and the right to make a defense is stripped of the personal character upon which the Amendment insists. It is true that when a defendant chooses to have a lawyer manage and present his case, law and tradition may allocate to the counsel the power to make binding decisions of trial strategy in many areas. This allocation can only be justified, however, by the defendant’s consent, at the outset, to accept counsel as his representative. An unwanted counsel represents the defendant only through a tenuous and unacceptable legal fiction. **Unless the accused has acquiesced in such representation, the defense presented is not the defense guaranteed him by the Constitution, for, in a very real sense, it is not his defense.**

Id. at 820–21 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). The *Faretta* Court recognized that it is the defendant – not his attorney or the solicitor – who will “bear the personal consequences of a conviction.” *Id.* at 834. Thus, it is the defendant “who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage.” *Id.* **While a defendant’s decision to conduct his own defense may be to his own detriment, “his choice must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.”** *Id.* (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added). Even so, such a waiver of the right to counsel must be knowing and intelligent, with awareness of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. *Id.* at 835.

The right to self-representation must be preserved even if the court believes that a defendant will benefit from the advice of counsel. *State v. Fuller*, 337 S.C. 236, 241, 523 S.E.2d 168, 170 (1999); see also *United States v. Singleton*, 107 F.3d 1091 (4th Cir. 1997). If the request proceed *pro se* is made after trial has begun, grant or denial of the right to proceed *pro se* was within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *Fuller*, 337 S.C. at 241. No matter when the request is made, “[i]t is incumbent upon the trial court to determine whether the request is made

for purposes of delay or to gain a tactical vantage, and whether the lateness of the request may hinder the administration of justice.” Fuller, 337 S.C. at 241 (quoting People v. Mogul, 812 P.2d 705, 709 (Colo.App. 1991)).

Here, the motion to relieve counsel was made before the selection of the jury. Though the case had been called for trial on July 21, 2014, the solicitor gave no indication that a brief continuance of the case would place any substantial burden on the state. See R. 1 – 9. The state’s case in chief and in rebuttal consisted primarily of police officers, with the exception of the convenience store clerk. R. 92 – 132; R. 189 – 204. Regarding the genuineness of the motion, Siders explained his dissatisfaction with trial counsel Mathews due to a breakdown in their communication. Even Mathews admitted that communication with Siders was “difficult.” R. 29, l. 23 – 30, l. 2.

Assuming *arguendo* that Siders’ complaints were not sufficient to warrant substitution of counsel, it is notable that Siders never made such a request. Rather, Siders’ motion itself indicated a desire to proceed *pro se* sufficient to trigger Faretta. R. 300; State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014) (“So long as the defendant makes his request prior to trial, the only proper inquiry is that mandated by Faretta.”); *cf.* State v. Sims, 304 S.C. 409, 415, 405 S.E.2d 377, 381 (1991) (“The right to appear *pro se* must be clearly asserted by the defendant before trial.”). “Under Faretta, the trial judge has the responsibility to make sure that the defendant is informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, and that he makes a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel.” Barnes, 407 S.C. at 36, 753 S.E.2d at 550 (citing State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 41, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998)). The trial court’s ruling that Siders failed to show that Mathews was “ill-prepared” illustrates his failure to apply the proper standard. See R. 45, l. 6 – 46, l. 6. Siders was not required to convince the trial court that he

would do a better job at representing himself than Mathews. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 836. By failing to conduct the proper inquiry, the trial judge effectively forced Siders to accept a state-appointed public defender against his will, in violation of the federal and state constitutions. See id. This error mandates reversal of Siders' convictions. Barnes, 407 S.C. at 37.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellant Albert Edward Siders respectfully requests that this Court reverse his convictions and remand his case for a new trial.



Laura R. Baer
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT