ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

MAY 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000995

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

ALBERT EDWARD SIDERS.....APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3922

DUFFIE STONE  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880  
Bluffton, SC 29910  
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to relieve counsel because it was untimely, Appellant failed to prove an actual conflict of interest, and Appellant never requested to proceed pro se.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to relieve counsel because he failed to evaluate the potential conflict of interest and failed to advise Appellant of his right to proceed pro se. The State disagrees.

A motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Childers, 373 S.C. 367, 372, 645 S.E.2d 233, 235 (2007) (citing State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 152, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005); State v. Graddick, 345 S.C. 383, 385, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). The movant bears the burden to show satisfactory cause for removal. Childers, 373 S.C. at 372, 645 S.E.2d at 235 (citing Gregory, 364 S.C. at 152, 612 S.E.2d at 450; Graddick, 345 S.C. at 385, 548 S.E.2d at 211).

The Sixth Amendment’s protection to a criminal defendant of the right to effective assistance of counsel includes a right to counsel “unhindered by a conflict of interest.” Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 345–50, 355 (1980) (quoting Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 483 n. 5, (1978)). “The mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction.” Gregory, 364 S.C. 152, 612 S.E.2d 450 (citing Langford v. State, 310 S.C. 357, 359, 426 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1993)). However, a defendant need not demonstrate prejudice if there is an actual conflict of interest. Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 551 S.E.2d 254 (2001); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984) (citing Cuyler,

446 U.S. at 348-350). An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant's. Fuller v. State, 347 S.C. 630, 557 S.E.2d 664 (2001).

In Duncan v. State, the South Carolina Supreme Court set forth the following test to determine when an actual conflict of interest occurs:

[W]hen a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties. If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists. The interests of the other client and the defendant are sufficiently adverse if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client. An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant's.

Duncan, 281 S.C. at 438, 315 S.E.2d at 811 (citing Zuck v. State of Alabama, 588 F.2d 436, 439 (5th Cir. 1979)). In Duncan, an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction relief (PCR) action, Duncan asserted, *inter alia*, that the attorneys within the public defender office who represented him acted under a conflict of interest resulting in a denial of his sixth amendment right to counsel because that office also represented Leroy Davis, a witness who testified against him. Duncan, 281 S.C. at 438, 315 S.E.2d at 811. In its opinion, the Duncan Court wrote:

This is a case of concurrent representation. The Public Defender's Office represented both Duncan and Leroy Davis, a witness against Duncan. Steve Henry, an Assistant Public Defender, made a conscious decision not to reveal the prior inconsistent statement of Davis to Duncan or his attorney. Henry, representing Davis on an unrelated murder charge, felt he had an ethical duty not to reveal the statement. Thus, Henry states that he acted under what he perceived to be a conflict of interest.

Id. However, the Duncan Court found a conclusory statement of a perceived conflict of interest is insufficient in cases of concurrent representation at public defender's offices and there must be some evidence in the record to establish an actual conflict of interest. Duncan, 281 S.C. at 438,

315 S.E.2d at 811. The Court found Duncan failed to show an actual conflict of interest existed from this dual representation of a defendant and witness by the public defender's office. Id.

In Richardson v. State, 377 S.C. 103, 659 S.E.2d 493 (2008), the South Carolina Supreme Court noted PCR applicants often file complaints against appointed counsel with the Office of Disciplinary counsel then use the complaint as a basis for a subsequent motion to relieve counsel. The court cautioned that "the filing of a disciplinary complaint should not result in an automatic removal of appointed counsel." Id. at 107, 659 S.E.2d at 495. Instead, it held "[t]he basis for the complaint should be explored and the PCR judge should exercise discretion in determining whether the basis for the complaint constitutes sufficient cause to relieve counsel." Id.

South Carolina appellate courts have made clear one can waive one's right to counsel based on Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). State v. Bryant, 383 S.C. 410, 414, 680 S.E.2d 11, 13 (Ct. App. 2009). "The right to proceed pro se must be clearly asserted by the defendant prior to trial." State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 41, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998) (emphasis added). "It is the trial court's responsibility to determine whether there was a knowing and intelligent waiver by the accused." Bryant, 383 S.C. at 414, 680 S.E.2d at 13. "To effectuate a valid waiver, the accused must (1) be advised of the right to counsel and (2) be adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation." Id. (citing State v. McLauren, 349 S.C. 488, 493 94, 563 S.E.2d 346, 348 49 (Ct. App. 2002)); see also Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835.

In the instant case, the motion to relieve counsel was made the day of trial. When asked about the grounds of his motion, Appellant claimed trial counsel: (1) met with him only twice in the fourteen month period prior to trial; (2) did not act on his behalf during the course of his representation; and (3) failed to fully explain the items discussed in their conversation. However, when questioned on those items, he admitted he had communicated with counsel

during the period and counsel had sent copies of the three warrants he originally claimed he had not received. Appellant admitted those items were not the concern, and his real issue could not be addressed in open court. During the closed hearing, trial counsel: (1) explained the facts of Appellant's case; (2) mentioned the witnesses he subpoenaed to prove Appellant was coerced into committing the robbery; (3) described Appellant's work as a confidential information; (4) informed the trial judge of Appellant's fear that he would be harmed if he presented his theory of the case at trial; and (5) summarized his discussions with Appellant regarding the latter's chances of prevailing at trial. Appellant admitted trial counsel "basically . . . covered" his issues, and used his opportunity to speak only to more fully explain how he was forced into committing the robbery. Thus, Appellant's own statements indicate he did not actually desire for trial counsel to be relieved or that he had any issue with counsel's representation.

Notably, Appellant admitted he filed the civil lawsuit because he was told such action would create a conflict of interest. However, South Carolina courts are loath to relieve counsel when a defendant attempts to manufacture an artificial conflict of interest for the purpose of delaying trial. Cf. Richardson, 377 S.C. at 107, 659 S.E.2d at 495 (noting PCR applicants often file complaints against appointed counsel with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel to manufacture a conflict of interest, and courts should determine whether such claims possess merit before relieving counsel).

Regardless of Appellant's intent, there is no evidence the civil lawsuit created an actual conflict of interest or otherwise impacted trial counsel's ability to represent Appellant. The only evidence such a lawsuit was filed is the statement of Appellant; although he attempted to "serve" counsel in court, he failed to present documentation of any claims against him. The sole document (possibly) relating to the lawsuit presented was an order allowing members of "We the

People" to submit cases relating to jail conditions, lock-up status, and access to meaningful exercise or recreation. Not only were these items outside of trial counsel's control or his representation of Appellant, but no evidence was submitted showing Appellant was a party in the lawsuit. See Childers, 373 S.C. at 372, 645 S.E.2d at 235 (stating it is the moving' party's burden to show a satisfactory cause for removal of counsel).

As an alternative grounds for relief, Appellant argues that even if his stated issues were not sufficient to warrant substitution of counsel, his request "indicated a desire to proceed pro se sufficient to trigger Faretta." (Br. of Appellant, p.11). However, Appellant failed to make any such request or statement. See Reed, 332 S.C. at 41, 503 S.E.2d at 750 (stating a motion to proceed pro se must be clearly asserted by the defendant prior to trial); also State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 587, 698 S.E.2d 596, 603 (2010) (finding Appellant who did not timely waive his right to counsel and proceed pro se was not entitled to Faretta warnings). Furthermore, Appellant misconstrues the purpose of Faretta: the purpose of such warnings are not to persuade a defendant with no desire to proceed pro se to do so; quite the reverse, Faretta warnings are designed to apprise a defendant invoking his right to self-representation of the dangers of such a course of action. Id. at 41, 503 S.E.2d at 750. Accordingly, the trial judge had no reason to sua sponte instruct Appellant on Faretta.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.